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CLARKE J. 

After hearing lengthy but illuminating submissions by 

counsel for the parties, this Court unanimously refused the appli-

cation cf Walter Gilbert Byles for a writ of habeas corpus ad 

subjiciendum.o We now keep our promise to give written reasonso 

The grounds of the application are manifoldv and it is 

as well to g·ive ti history of the institution cf the proceedings 

under the Extradition Act 0 1991 a~ well as to sunm1arise the 

evidence aaduced b~fore the Court of committalo 

ThF.? appli ·~ant, whose extradition is sought by the United 

States of Americ~t is accused of the following offences committed 

between f.,136 and 1988 witlii..n the jurisdict.ion of tha.t country~ 
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(a) consi:)iracy to import mari~'l.1ana and 
hashish oil; 

(b) importation of marijuana and hashish 
oil; 

(c) distribution of and possescion with 
intent to distribute marijuana and 
hashish oil~ 

(d) conspiracy to possess with intent to 
distribute marijuana antl hashish oil. 

On 6th July 1988r an indictment against the applicant 

charging the said offences was returned by the Grand Jury in the 

Southern District of Alabalna and the followiH9 day a warrant for 

his arrest for the said offences was issued out o~:: that Dist.rict 

Courto On July 26, 1991 a request, renewed in November of that 

year1 was made of the Government of Jamaica by the United States 

Government for his provisional arrest in respect of the said 

offences. The request for his apprehension on a provisional 

warrant was not pursueda But on 17th August 1993, two years later, 

a formal request for his extradition was made accompanied by 

authenticated documents including affidavits and exhibits 

thereto. On 4th December 1994 he was arrested in Spanish Town 

on a warrant issued on 22nd December 1993, the Minister of 

National Security and Justice having issued on 29th November, 

1993 an authority to the Resident Magistrate fer Sto Andrew 

to proceed in conformity with the provisions of the Extradition 

Act, 1991 (the Act) in respect of the aforesaid offences 

allegedly committec1 by the a.pplicant. 

After l•earing the caoe at c0Ir.0:1i.ttal proceedings which 

commencEld in Jani}._ary 1995 tne J earned Resident ~~?lgi;:;trate p 

l.lfiiss Ma..r~i::.. Hught~s, on 8th December 199'.:i co11utdtted the applicant 

tc custody to await hi(; ex~::-atli tion under th•-= Act . 'l"he evidence 

:r:ec~:ivcd in the committal p:::-oceedings contprised~ 

(a) authenticatcti affidavits with exhibits 
the1:eto Gwu:.:n in the Unitec States and 
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(b) depositions taken by the learned Resident 
Mag·istrate from witnesses called on 
behalf of the requesti11g State and on 
behalf of the applicanto 

The authenticated affidavits supporting the request include 

those sworn by accomplices, Michael ~~attner and Billy Williams 

on 5th ~arch 1992 and James Senter on 25th January 1993. They 

had pleaded guilty in a United States District Court either 

to charges of importation of marijuana or conspiracy to distribute 

marijuana, and were sentencedo They deposed that after consulting 

with their lawyers they agreed to co-operate with the United 

States authorities in the prosecution of the matter. And they 

gave their affidavits while serving their sentences. 

The three af f iants purport to identify the applicant 

as one of the persons who conspired and participated with them 

and others in the importation of marijuana and hashish oil 

from Jamaica to the United States so as to possess and distribute 

same in the United States. They have sworn that the applicant 

and themselves and others imported a substantial quantity of 

marijuana and hashish oil into the United States from Jamaica 

from 1987 to 18th May 19880 These substances woula be loaded 

into a hidden compartment aboard a sail boat in this country, 

which then brought the substances to the United States. The 

substances would be distributed to buyers once a shipment arrived 

in Baldwin County in the southern District of Alabama.. On 

18th i-~ay 1988 one such shipment was seized in Alaban.a by Drug 

Enforcement Agents. Some of the participants in the scheme 

i.nclucdng the affiants were thereupon arrestedv but not the 

applicant, for he had left Alabama a iew days earlier and subse-

quently returned to Jainaica • 

.IYiichael Mattner deposec1 that in hiG preoence in Jamatica;.~ 

in 1987 and 1988 i .he applicant and one Robert Delisser discusses 

the mar=.~uana irr.!;)Ortation scheme. 11'he applicant allowed his 
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property in Jam~ica to serve as one of the locations where 

planning to pro;note the scheme took place and where marijuana 

was stored. On one occasion in 1987 upon arrivul in the 

United States aboard the Drifter which he had helped the 

applicant to load in Jamaicau the applicant paid him USl0,000.00 

for his work in furtherance of the scheme. 

We are told by J·ames Senter in his ai:Iidavit that in 1987 

and 1988 he participated with the applicant and others in the 

drug smuggling scheme. On his trips to Jamaica. to i
1grade 11 

marijuana for Billy Williams he became acquaintetl with the 

applicant. He instanced a Sunday afternoon i~ August 1987 

where in the presence of the applicant he inspected a bnle 

of marijuana in the secret compartment or the Driiter then 

sailing in Jamaican waters and then indic~ted that the marijuana 

was of inferior qualityo Then after sealing 50 pounds of 

good quality marijuana at the applicant 1 z house in Jamaica he 

delivered it to the applic;ant to load on the Drifter. Senter 

said he returned to the United States for a short while. He 

said he returned to Jamaica in late 1987 and helped the 

applicant construct marijuana presses. He was informed by the 

applicant that there waz unsold marijuana in Alabama and he, 

the applicant needed his help tc assist in selling it. Senter 

also swore that in late December 1987 he was at a building 

in Alabama where marijuana Wd.S sc.·rted when one l~.ike Drake 

came there accompanied by the applicant and Billy Williams. 

Drake inspected the marijua~a &nd agreed to purcha~e it. 

In his affidavitu Billy Williamsr himself another 

accompliceu portrays the applicant as one of the pu.rticipants 

from 1986 to 1988 in the marijuana smuggling uchemeo Up to 1922 

he had known the applicant for about 7 years. In 1983 Williams 

said he r.i.ml others constructed a ~ail boat, cvceren.dipity", 

renamed .i.~1 1987, 71 Drifter'i 0 containii1g a hiddc:;11 compartment 

which cc·.: ...:i concf"~- 1. some 6 v 000 tons of mar. ~:_juana. He became 

~ 
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involved with Rol:.er:l Delisser who would supply rnarijuana to 

be Emuggled int.o ;.he United States. In early 1987 he along 

with the applicant loaded marijuana on to the sail boat in 

Jamaica. Williai~s further deposed that the ap~licant assisted 

him and Delisser in supplying the marijuana by arranging for 

loading it on to the sail bout and in obtaining crew members 

to cail the vessel with the drugs from Jamaica to the United 

Stateso The applicant also kept Williams informed about the 

progress of the smuggling ventures. In April 1988 the Drifter 

laden with tons of marijuana and hashish oil left Ja.maica for 

the United States. On the trip problems with the boat were 

encountered. So Williams met with the applicant in Miami 

concerning the problems. The applicant latex travelled to 

Mexico to make arrangements for the Drifter to finish the 

trip. Williams again met the applicant in South Florida 

and in early May 1988 the applicant travelled tc. Baldwin County 

Alabama where he stayed at the I:;lbertha House to await the 

arrival of the Drifter. On Williams' instructions the Drifter 

was sailed to a dock behind Williams' residence in Elberta, 

Alabar~a. On 18th May 1988r however, right after sone marijuana 

and hashish oil were taken from the boat, he v \A"Yilliams 1 was 

arrested along with Ruby Williams, Michael Mattncr and Cortina 

Mattner-·Byles. 

Cortina Mattner, the applicant's wife also swore to 

an affidavit taken in the United StatGc. It :Ju.is one of the 

autb.cnticat~d affidavits te11dered at the co.11~a-:ittal proceedings 

in support of the:: reqr.cst fer the extradition o:( t.h.e applicant. 

Before us it was ?roperly conceCiec:t by eouno0J.. ior the respondents 

that !:.he committal proceedj.nys being er iminal ,. the applicant's 

wife wa8 and remains incompetent to give evidence for the 

requesti "i<_:; State in criminal proceeC:ings in Jarnuic u. ~ see Section 

4U) an; ... 1.'.2) of ·~·~1e Evide~.ue Act. i.1-.;:..c affidavit :Jr1ould not, 
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therefore, have l:.eei. received in evidence. Yet its reception 

in evidence wasr in my viewu not fatalu so long as there was 

admissible evidence before the Resident Magistrate sufficient 

to warrant the trial of the applicant for the of fences alleged, 

had they been committed in Jamaica. The case is to be treated, 

as Mr. Hibbert submitted, as if the Resident Magistrate had 

before her no evidence from Cortina Mattner tendered on behalf 

of the requesting State. To hold otherwise, as Mr. Ramsay 

urged this Court to do so on the basis that the wrongful admission 

of her affidavit vitiated the proceedings, would be to reject 

the perfectly reasonable and just approach advocated. by Mr. Hibbert. 

The case of Re Kirby (1976) Crim. L.R. supports such 

an approach. There a document tendered as part of the evidence 

for extradition was adinitted and considered by a Magistrate 

in England in making a committal order. The Divisional Court 

in refusing an application for a writ of habeas corpus held 

that, although the document was inadmissible and could not 

be a basis on which a person in England could be convictedr 

the committal order was justified in light of the remainder 

of the evidence. 

In addition to the affidavit evidencn of the accomplices, 

Michael ~attner, James Senter and Billy Williarosv the Resident 

Magistrate had before her for consideration thP. affidavits 

of Douglas Lamplugh, Edward Odom, Charles Parkp ~llan Hancock 

and George Lester in support cf the request for the applicantas 

extradition. She was also required to consider depositions 

given on behalf of the applicant by his wife Cortina Mattner­

Byles and Ripton McPhersonu an attorney-at~law. 

Douglas Lamplugh, a United States Drug Enforcement Agent, 

de~osed that on 8th May 1988 he arrested Billy Uilliams, Ruby 

Williams: Michael ~iattner :ind Cortina Nattner=Byles at a water~ 

front residence :i11 Elberta in the Southern District of 

/-,labama ~- .. ·~re th . '..oad of what he d2scr ibt:C. as marijuana 
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anc;. harJ:·.ish oil was stcr(:d <.. ;1c1 .,_he Drifter n;.con' c1 o 'l'he find nncl 

the arreE-ts we.i:·e n:ade during t.he execution of '1 search warrant 

a~ ~he zaid residenceo Other agents were present during the 

search and Lamplugh assigned duties to them" As·en"i: Odom 

said in his affidavit that he siezed substances de5cribed by 

hi1n as marijuana and hashish oil and that he ·1:.oc:Y. samples of 

these substance& and su:U1i:i t.tecl these by re9ictered 1 .. ail, duly 

sealn<l in bags and labelled, to the Drug En:i:crcc:munt Admini::;tration 

Laboratoiy for testing" Another IJrug I::ntorceme:nt Agent: Charles 

Park 8 deposed that he su::;;equc.mtly seized rr,ore mar ijuana ar1d 

hashish oil, (as he describe~ them) fron1 tht.! :iJrifte:r" The 

substances had remained hici<len in the conceale d ccmpc:.rtment of 

th~ vessel. Agent hancock nlao swore by aff itlavit ~hat he 

took custody of the additional s ubutances he rccE.iVGd from agent 

Park and submitted by registered mail samples C.•l. thc;se, 

duly oealed in parcels and. labelled, to th() urug .enforcement 

Ad.Ininistration Laboratory for analysico 

Lester deposed th.at as a forensic chc;;;:L.·;: for the l.>rug 

:.8nforcemeut Adrttinistration he analysed en 24U:i J·unGe 1~88 and 

9th July 198U at the 1.Jrug Bnforcemant Soutli..arn Laborat..ory in 

l>alla.s 8 T;~xas a quantity of : tt..m :.~·les of grc(:m :pl~.m t r:;c:, terial .:ls 

well a:::; fo.iamples of dc.:.rk green viscocus sub~tance ruceivcd in 

that laboratory for t<~stiniJ o 'i'herc is clear c.:vid.0~1cc that th~ 

sampl1.,;$ were containe<l in ::;c.~y::; or envelopes wi u , their s e .:i ls 

ir1tact and ho.d been receivE!d under registere d coV•": :-:- ~Jearing 

nu,::l:rer.s which corresponded wi'Lh the rcgir;t<::red rn;..;il rumb•3rs 

of the s.;;alccl pai:cels containing subctances der.icJ:..il.ir~Ci. by 

Age:nt Odom and Hancock u.~.·. eitht..:r marijuana or ?'o.~l •. ish oilo 

'l'rwsG. they had submitted in sealed pc.reel~ vi<..t n~9h;tercd mail 

actares£ed to the said Laboratoryo 

Do all that evidentiar:y material could p:i.ovide the 

fac~ual basis for a trier nf fact reasonabl} Lo i u f e r that 

G8orgc ! .. 8 :..--: ter re::::2ived sc:.m:i.;.iles of snbGtan.::c:3 submit:L~d by 
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agents Odom and .tlancock which had been taken from the Drifter 

and that Lester subsequently analysed and tested these samples 

in the laboratory. Lester said that he tested each sample 

to determine whether each was in fact a controlled substance, 

and found each to be either marijuana or hashish. 

Observe that having been issued with an authority to 

proceed in respect of th applicant who was thereafter arrested 

on a warrant under section 9 of the Act, the learned Resident 

Magistrate, unless otherwise prohibited by the Actr was obliged 

to cor~nit him to custody to await his extradition, once the 

evidence tendered in support of the request for his extradition 

and on his own behalf satisfied her that the of fence to which 

the authority to proceed related were~ 

(a) extradition offences; antl 

(b) that that evidence would be sufficient 

to warrant his trial for those of fences 

if they had been committed in Jamaica: 

see Section 10 (5) of the Act. 

Question of sufficiency of evidence before Magistrate 

Take the requirement at (b) above. Be it noted, first 

of all, that section 10 (5) in dealing with the c~uestion of 

the sufficiency of evidence, indicates that same must be referable 

to the offence(s) connected to the authority to proceed issued 

by the Minister to the Resident Magistrate. In the instant 

caoe .. -:.' the .Minister issued the authority to proceed after he 

had been furnished together with the request for the applicant's 

extradition, the followingg 

(1) a warrant for the applicant 0 o arrest issued 
in the United States, 

(2) particulars of the applicant's identity 

(3} facts upon which the applicant is accused. 

(4) the law under which he is accused 

(5) evidenc.a sufficient to justify u. magistrate 
issuin-:; a warr;,nt for his arreot under section 9. 



-

e 

So 

Although Mr. Ramsay submitted to the contrary, there is, in 

my opinion, no =~quirement ±or either the evidence upon which 

the indictment is based, or for such indictment, to be furuished 

to the Minister by the requesting State. 

In any case, the point to grasp here is that it is 

from the authority to proceed that the Resident f•:ia.gistrate 

derived her jurisdictiono It was after receiving that 

authority that she issued a warrant for the arrest of the 

applicant for the offences listed in the authority to proceed. 

They are the of fences set forth at the beginning o i this 

judgment and in respect of which the learned Resident nagistrate 

had heard evidence and had thereupon issued her warriAnt of 

conunittal after she had been catisfied that the provisions 

of cection 10(5) had been meto And although an indictment 

was supplied by the requesitng State none was required under 

the Act. Mr. Hibbert and Mro RobinDon nevertheless properly 

conceded that the affidavit as to foreign law sworn to by 

United States Attorney Gloria Bedwell, speaks to Indictment 

bearing Criminal No. 890008~ which is d different indictment 

from the one supplied with the papers, namely Indictment bearing 

Criminal No. 9100054 with the further inscription.I' Foreign 

"Warrant Case No. G.J. 2o printed thereono So it. is common 

ground that the indictment referred to an particulai:ised in 

Miss Bedwell's affidavit was not the indictment exhibited. 

l'ir. Ramsay argued that on tbat ground alcn\::! the committal 

order was bad. He submitted that since the ReLJident r-iagistrate 

had no power to amend the affidavits tendered by the requesting 

State 1 no committal order could properly be rnc:;.d·~ on such 

coHtradictory and confusing documents. And the corrnni tting 

Magistrate, he submitted, would have been in errur if she 

based the committal order on the allegation i.n the authority 

to proceed, for u j ,n the language of the ap:rlicant 0 s ground 

C'n whic:'; -~ !1is su':::- ission wa~ base, "those were indi1..~ati ve 
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ch.:i.rg0::: i2nrJ. r .: ···.: sp~".::~.iic ch:::irg>:-~S laid. by ic.:.d.it..!tJCi:t':. Yet, 

as counsel icr th~ ::·;-·.:.:pun;:;e:"',: :,; sU:.;rnittedq it is prPcisely 

'i:.he allege.tio:1!3 • .::;.~! ·t.aineu in the authori·~y to p:...oceed. tl..nd 

iter:ated. in t:he warrunt. o:r <-::..rrest isDueu thereafter; which 

provided the scope of the n:agistrute ~ s iny_uiry at tJ;.e corr•mi·Ltal 

proceedings o Those allegation~ formed the te!"mf: of reference 

for the learned Resident I•J.aljistrate to dcterminP froh, tl1E 

authenticated affid.avib.~ tendered and deposit:ior, i::, taken before 

her u "i!hether, had the of ff'nces been commi tt.::?d ., v• -·· J.:lrnaica, 

a prima facie case had been establis!.1ed so aF to \ .;·r:.rrant the 

applic:..in-:.: 0 s trial for the self same offence~ ,-·cc .i.'Led. in the 

authority to proceed. 0incc the Act does not 1.-.;:.qui:::e that 

an in6.icte111ent be furnished l:::~= tl.:1e request.L10 C:tat.e as e<. pre-· 

comH·~ion for the holding o:t co:rru'!"\ittal proceediro.g::~ • I am 

unable to accept mr. Ramsc>,y vs submi,.~sion thu.t tbe learned 

- Resident i'>'iagistrate ccu:.a only make c:1 committ.::.l order based 

en npecific charges laid by indictment. 

P.,11 the same, Mr. Ra~1h3ay submitted, too; t11-::;. t the corrar.ittal 

is also bad becr.UEc the tackle of the requesting Str.te was 

manii.estly out of order at the cornmi ttal procet.·0. ings a He contended 

that th':! Indictment beari11g Ho. 9100054 supplie(> with th(' 

authenticated documents i:::: the incorrect indictrn•~nt and that 

thr..:: Indictment referred t.n a~ NU. 8900089 and pa::ticularised 

by ~,)im; bedwell in her a:Cfi<lctvit, should have b~e. 1•. <·xhibited 

but was not. How, while it ic clear that the L1~ic:i~mt:mt exhibited 

to F.:.is~·, nedwAll' n affidavit wc.i. CJ not ro:Ccr:r.:.d ·i:.o b10rein, 

the lt::e:;n~ed I:.esident ~·~agistrat;:: was, I t:hink ,. cnt j. t l 0d t.o 

concluc.k fro~:: tht> buncUe cf documents aJ.mitteCJ. in oP.videmce 

b('fCJr:u he:.:- t.hat t.r..:i exhibited ir·d:i.ctrncnt bearin~J :: .,·.a 910U054 

was -=•r1:~ ·'-'..:llich was returned ;.go.inst the i tp pli<.:< ... ::i.': .: .. , 6th .J"uly 

198u by t.h•.:.! Grand Jury in th8 £.outhen1 District oi: A.labama 

and on. ',-fr,ich the; ::o.:ei13n warrant. fc,r the:; urro :::: ~: c..:~: ·the applicant 

w~. o insu.P.·1 the f0?.l.0wing day a The b·. · ~ 1dlc conc1.: rned th..? request 
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for the applicant's extradition and, as Mr. Hibbert pointed out, 

it is clear from 1:1".i:: affidavits of the accom.plices t.hat other 

persons were indicted jointly with them in relation to the same 

set of transactions and that the caseG agaisnt the accomplices 

were disposed of. And when we look at I·liss Bedwell vs affidavit 

it is plain that that was the case because she mentions charges 

in relation to which the applicant was charged with others. 

The indictment the learned Resident Magistrate had before 

her 0 however, charged one person 1 namely, tlie ap}:Jlicant, for 

offenc(:~s which coincided with those in the authority to proceed. 

The indictment was one on which the foreign warrant for the 

arrest of the applicant wa~ issued. And in the result, reference 

to that indictment was made in the warrant of committal. 

Accordingly, I agree with Mr. Hibbert that the error 

is to be found not in the indictment f:iUpplied but. in Miss 

Bedwell 0 s affidavit where she describes another indictment 

charging the applicant and others. So, it comes to this, 

that the learned Resident Magistrate was required to examine 

the evidence to determine whet.her a prim.a facie ca~e had been 

made out in relation to the offences alleged in the authority 

to proceed and which corresponded to those in the indictment 

exhibited. 

Counsel for the a~plicant 0 relying on a number of grounds, 

submitted that, in any event 0 a prima facie ca=e had not been 

established. One ground relied on, and compendiou~ly called, 

"the definition of ganja yround", and on which this broad 

submission was made reads aG follows~ 

a; • • • the evidence as to foreign law 
disclosed that the definition of 
ma.cijuana is wider that the definition 
of ganja in that in the United States 
definition there is no requirement that 
the resin be not extracted from the plantg 
Her~ce what would not be ganja for the 
purposes oi Jamaica~1 Criminal law is 
~:,:.i..t ijuana in Ameri.:::an law". 
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u ; Ganja 0 ~>lcl11de1;; ci.11 p~1 1 t..s c :( th0 1 lQnt.. 
known az c=-::•nnc. ,_Li~ s.:itiva frcl\; i;ldd1 th.-;: 
:ccsin has not bcEm extracte(~ an,; ir.cludtrn 
any rosin obtained ±rem that. point o •• v• 

I reud th.c.;t def ... nition to me;;;.n "Lhat a substance is ganja only 

if it is the plant cdnnabis sativa, or any part of that plant, 

from which, whether the whole plant or any part th .. ~reof, 

the r.:eein has not been extracted, or any resin for~u 'Lha t t->lant. 

New ii the evidence a5 to t0rcign law di r;closc:.; 'i.: lJfd ·. in 

A2erico.n law, 

ii' ma.rijuc..nn. 0 .1neano all parts of t.he 
plant cannabis sativa L., wJ.~~tllcr 
growing or aot1 the seedz the~cof 3 
the resin ex.Lructed from any part 
of such plant1 and every CuH'tpound ,, 
manufacture 3 salt, derivative, 
mixturo or preparation of such plant, 
its seeJ or resin ••• n 

That evidence also disclo~~~ that mariju~na is ~ c~ntrolled 

subs tance prohibited by }'.merican law. I agro~ that the 

dei:inition of l:"!a::::ijuana in L..:ierican law iE: \·lid~x than the 

definition of ganja in .Jamaican law in tlrn.t in '-.he l'imerican 

definition the resin · ' ·>·~d n<.;t be !:'resent. 

'I'he yuestion that arises, however, is whc,.ther the 

Resident Magiotratl:' hac ~)cforc hc:r. oxpcrt 0.Vill<.:n".': • ~ capable 

oi proving at trial that th~ questioned subc-i:: c..11c.:..: s w~rc ganja 

wi-i:.!'.<in the meanir.g of the Dangerc.m::; D:cug£ lie ~ . •:·1 ,-. t~i10rt. 

answer is that on a rE::view of th..=:· affidavit cvi(~; enc1.:; of the 

Ct-1c1·~ ; • .,,,. r:._,.-,i:·ge ., ·-s ... er tl1··> :ce" •.. -.... T•, 3 a"'-:.po"'-·~.;· '1-:•· of · ·"'·S -- ... _._...., / \V.......... ·'-''-= '- 1 · ·~ · Yu c..~ o "'-'- - t;; ~· . ·'- .,,.L'-• - """" a 

for~naic chemist £or the C~~~ Enfcrc~munt A&nini~tration in 

the United S'fates lw conduct.eu spe·~ific tcst:.ro of swnples of 

{a) u plcmt materi.-.1 rescml:i ling rea:;:ijuana {J.Jb u. dark green 

viscou~; oily substance and (c) a g::-cenish bro,m. ::~lid 

fJUlnrt:ancc=. The evidence shows that the ~arr. ·:-> t.Gst. was done 

in relc·.tion to all those! ::.>ets cf samples. He up:L;md that 
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based on the results of the tests he conducted 8 and on his 

·experience, the ',;1:teen plant material was marijuvna" that the 

dark gre8n viscous oily substance was marijuana (hQshish) 

oil containing the active drug tetrahydrocanniabinol {THC) 

content <:'.nd that the greenish brown solid substance was cannabis 

resin or hashish with the said active drug ingrcdi ~nt, THC. 

Although neither hashish nor hashish oil is defined 

by the Dangerous Drugs Act I observe that in one ca~e in which 

the appellant had plead guilty to possession oi ganja where 

hashish was what had been found in his po~ses~ion~ the Court 

of App~al accepted that the inference from the Magistrate~~ 

findings of fact in that case was that the hashish wcs the 

resin extracted from ganja itself~ see Shawn Phillips v. R. 

R.M.C.A. No. 6/96 (unreported). And in another case the Court 

of Appeal accepted sub silentio that hashish is ganja within 

the meaning of the Dangerous Drugs Act. Thereu the Government 

Analyst had found that n blackish green viscous substance 

resembling hashish that he hHd tested containnd the: resin 

from the plant cannabis sativa and had concluded that that 

substance was therefore hashish or 'ganjn'~ see R. v. Robert 

Bedwell R.M.C.A. No. 50/90 (Unreported). 

There was thereforeu in my view, ample basis tor concluding 

that sufficient evidence had been adduced ~t the committal 

proc~euings that the question~d substances identified by 

George Lester as marijuanng hashish anc hashish oil re~pectively 

wcr8 ganja within the meaning of the Dangerous Drugs Act. 

So much then for "the definition of ganja" ground. 

Equally untenable is the ground" succinctly termed 

in argument, "the hrec:i.k in the chain of custody gr:oundi'" relied 

on in support of the submi~sion that a prima facie case had 

not been made out. Mrs. Jacqueline Samuels~Brown submitted 

that the r~questi~~ State had tailed to establish an unbroken 
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chain of custody 0f t.he ouhstances in questionu co~.mencing 

with the find on the boat 6 Drifter, as well au in the boat 

house, and ending with the findings from the chemical tests 

conducted by George Lester at the Drug Enforcement Administration 

Laboratory in Texas. As samples of the sub~tances were sent 

through the Post Office that method of transrnissioP was, she 

submitted, manifestly flawed. She further submitted that 

as the tests carried out by George Lester related exclusively 

to the samples he received from the supervisory chemist of 

the r-.61..i.l"l Laboratory, Stewart Summers, who did no·:.. depose; 

the court of connnittal could not say that ~amples of substancec 

found in the boat and boa.t house were the ones tested by George 

Lester. 

Now, the Court below had evidence from Special Agent 

Park that he retrieved from the Drifter quantitie~ of substances 

regarded by him as marijuana and hashish oil, which, with 

help u he loaded on to a truck which he then hlcked and cealed. 

The truck now locked and sealed r he kept the key \thich he 

subsequently handed over to Special Agent Hancock. nancock 

deposed to receiving from Park the key to th~~ nealed and 

locked truck and to taking possession thereoL He said he 

found that the Drug Enforce1nent Administration seal on the 

lock was unbroken. He subsequently removed the ~eo.~. and 

found in the truck a bulk of u what he <lescribeu u5; marijuana 

and hashish oil. He took oamples of each of theGe substances, 

packaged and labelled each and sealed these iP u l•oxo H~ 

cent the- sei.'.i.led box and contents by register~c1 p•: :: ,i.. with a 

particular number and addressed to the Drug Eni:o::-cemcnt 

Ad!r.iD.istraticn South Central Laboratory, Dalla;::; 0 ~1.'exas o 

Special Agent Odom dep0sed that after seizing whdt he call~, 

11 the marijuana, hashish oil and hashish" from--t:he bt,;at house, 

he made samples of ea.ch nub:;tance, packaged~ lal>elJ ed and 

i::1i tial!. ::,~ each. '!'hen he :;.ea led each pac;:age. ~i{' placed 
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the packages in b. :xa=> a!1cl sont them addressed to the Drug 

Enforcement ad.~inistration South Central Laboratory in Dallas, 

Texas bJ,t registered mail hearing particular number~. One 

of the ~oxed packages was returned because he had failed to 

seal tlle outer box. He checked the package and found tl!a t 

all the samples were still each sealed. So he oealed the 

outer box and returned the whole consignment to the said 

Laboratory via registered mail bearing a particular registration 

number. 

George Lester's affidavit was also V8ry much before 

the . learned Resident Magistrat~. He said that the samples 

he tested came from sealed Drug Enforcement Auministration 

packages he received from Stewart Summerc. WhilGt it is true 

that Sununers has not deposedr the evidence presented indicates 

that t.he seals of the packages were intact and. that the packages 

received by registered mail each bore a registration number 

coinciding respectively with the registration nunibE·r of individual 

packages sent respectively by Hancock and Park by registered 

mail addreE.:sed to the Laboratory. The evidence al r;o shmn.:: 

that particulars written on each package rccuive~ by Lester 

coincided respectively with the particulars including case 

numbur and initials borne by each packag-o l'lailed under registered 

cover to the Laboratory by hancock and Park respec~ivelye 

So, I bear in r.dnd t11at the learned Re~ide:nt r1iagistrate 

wa.s not required to e:mbark on a trial but to dctcrrnin"'1 whether 

there wa3 sufficient evidence to raise a prima facie case. 

It is therefore my view th;;.t it would be op~n to the triers 

of tact to conclude from the evidence in this connection, 

if accepted, that the sampleo of the substanc~z recovered 

by Odom and Park and sent by them by registerecI mail addressed 

to the said Labora1;ory were the very ::;ub~tancc~ t.0ctcd by 

Lester. 

A CL.: ferent ground fonnE.:..d. the hasis o .: l:J.ro 1~2· :, say' s 

· .. 
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subrrd. i;rnion that. t~!E· lec-.r;iE:d R8sich:mt :t~a.gi5trate acteG without 

jurisdic·i:.ion i:rl that there t.ms no admissibl~ evidence before 

her to ju!Jtify the trial of the applicant, if ttc afore::aid 

offencef:-.; had been conunitted in thib country. 'l'hat ground 

reads thus: 

"That improper methods of induce1~ter~ L and 
threat used by agent uf the HCl..,iUeoting 
State to secure Affidavits contaiuing 
testimony were thoroughly cxpor:cd bj:• 
the witness Cortina Mattncr-BylcE .•• " 

What the learned Resident Magistrate had to con~idcr 

here, and must be taken to have considered in the :. igtJ.t of 

Cortina ~ .. attner-Byles' viva voce evidenc(.. before hE~r, wa~ 

tbe r~liabili ty of the testimony of tl1e accomt'lice~: i.1dch'2~l 

Mattner u Jamus Senter and Billy Williarim. And whilst th•~ 

lca:.:-ned kesident lhagistrate had to con::.dder Cortina i'~attncr-Byles' 

evidence that she and others had been coerc(~d or otb.c.;rwise 

induced to desposc against the applicant, it dooo not follow 

that. the aforeflaid accomplicesg whose affidavits were taken 

in the aLnence ot Mrs. Byles, were induced by agents of the 

requesting State to give their a.ffidavits. 'l'hc tcctimony 

of l.:!ach accomplice was such that its :3trengths or WE.aknes::;es 

depended on the view to be taken of its reli<:ibility. In 

the rczult; the learned Resident ~agistrat8 was ontit.led to 

act up0n it as well as on oth(.;r adlnissibl~ c vidun.cc before 

h~r arid to conclude as she 13.id, that a pr ima facL: Cafl0. had 

been establi::;h~d. 

Th1; applicant also coEte;nds that he uas denied . fundamental 

rights a.nd due process in two r·._·::ipects ~ 

0} 

(:.:. ~ 

by tho re:i:unc~l of 1 .::.:arncd HcEi~cnt Lagictratc 
~o all0;1 him to g-ivo an unsworn r;tat.~ment 
on his own bE.:half in the comm.i tt~•l proceedings; 
and 

by, what. h•.:: charac"l.~.! r.iscs a ::- r Ut..2 conspi·· 
ratiorial cond uct of lhe Jaraican police 
.:i.nd agentn oi the rt...,<!UCS~l-ing :->t.atc u in 
dcprivi.n9 .(iiichacl l' j->.ttncr, t.hc Lrother 
nf Cortj.na Mattnc~-liyleE: of tho opportunity 
-..o be i ··· · ·~;rviewc . 1. !· · ·· ' -- ·-, .. . ~-r 2vent;,...., .. 
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him from testifying in the committal 
!.>=oceedings where he would have been 
::::·xpected to testify to the same effect 
as his si;:; ter had done and thereiJy 
"expose the subornation of testimony 
by agent~ of the Requesting State. 11 

Take the second first. :i.~r. Ramsays submitted that as 

Mrs. Mattner-Byles' allegatic.ns have not been controverted 

by other evidence, the committal order should not be allowed 

to stand. Now, even if the learned Resident Magi=trate was 

obliged to accept, in the abcence of evidence ·i;.o t.he contrciry, 

the evidence, albeit challenged, that Micha~! Mattner had 

been expelled from the Island within hourti of iliH arrival 

with a view to preventiny him from being interviewed by counsel 

and from subsequently giving evidence, the question that arises 

is whether she as nevertheless entitled to come to the conclusion 

she reached on the admissible evidence before her. The a11swer 

is clearly in the affirmative, for what she ba§ essentially 

to consider was the reliability of the testimony of the accomplices 

Senter, Williams and Michael .Mattner himself, in determining 

whether there was sufficient evidence to warrant the trial 

of the applicant for the said offences, were they committed 

here. 

That was the approach adopted by the House of Lords 

in the helpful case of Alves v. Director of Public l·rosecution~ 

and another [1992] 3 All E:.R. 787. There, an accomplice ha<l 

pleaded guilty to offence~ relating to the di::;tribution in 

Sweden ot cannabis importea from abroad and had been ~entenced 

to imprisonment. He retractec betore a committing magi~trate 

in Bngland the evidence he had given while uerving his sentence. 

That evidence had implicated the fugitive in the commission 

of the said offences. The accomplice baoed hie retraction 

on the ground that ;.-tis evidence had been obtained by pressure 

exerted upon him by Swedish and Norwegian police officers. 

The Hagi;; • -::ate Dt" •, 0 .rthelesr. made a committ;:=i l ord~: .. : o On the 
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fugitive's application for a writ of habeas corpus the Divisional 

Court discharged \:he magistrate's order on the ground that 

the accomplice had retracted his Swedish evidence before the 

magistrate. On appeal, the House of Lords laid it down 

under legislation in pari materia to section 10 (5) ot the 

Extradition Act, 1991, that the magistrate could take into 

aecount evidence of an accomplice of the fugitive implicating 

the fugitive in the offences for which his extradition waz 

ought. This he could do although the accomplice had subsequently 

retracted his evidence. In their lordGhips OJ:;inion, what 

the magistrate had to consider was the reliability of that 

evidence in deciding whether there was sufficient evidence 

to justify an order for committal. The law l~rds allowed 

the appeal, since on the evidence before the magistrate he 

had been justified in committiug the fugitive to custody notwith­

standing the accomplice 0 G retraction of the evidence previously 

given by him implicating the fugitive. 

Likewise, even if 1-lichael l•.iattner had testifed at 

the committal proceedings and had thereat disavowed his earlier 

evidence and had asserted that he and others hatl been suborned 

by agents of the requesting State, the learned Resident 

Magistrate would, even in those circumstances, have been entitled 

to conclude en the entirety of the evidence before her that 

a prima facie case had been made out for the trial of the 

applicant for the offences to which the authority to proceed 

related. 

I now come to the question as to the correctness of 

the decision not to allow the applicant to give an unsworn 

stat.orncnt en his O"ln behalf. Mr. Ran.say submi ttcd that Section 

10(5) of the Act where it says "any evidence tendered in support 

of the request for the extradition of that person or on 

behalf of that pe-son" includes the q~.ving of an u.nsworn 
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statement b:.i d p8'1:',:; ·I' a;:ct~-~c.c .. of ar:. extrcidition offence (a 

fugitive) befor~ a court cf committal. And by shutting out 

the opportunity of the applicant to give an unsworn statement, 

the learned Resident Magistrate, Mr. Ramsay further submitted, 

breached the audi alteram partem rule thereby donying the 

applicant a fair hearing as required by section 20(1) of the 

Cons ti tut ion of ,Jamaica a 

It is to be observed th~t she did hear the evidence 

of Ripton McPherson and Cortina Mattner-Byles tender~d on 

behalf of the applicanto Bu~ prior to adducing evidence from 

Ripton McPherson, Mr. Ramsay npplied to have the applicant 

make an unsworn statement, citing in support, section 10(1), 

(2) and (5) of the Extradition Act 1991 and the Justices of 

the Peace Jurisdiction Acta She refused the application on 

the ground that an unsworn statement is not evidence as 

contemplated by section 10(5} of the Extradition Act~ see 

page 1 of copy of the Resident Magistrate's note exhibited 

before this Court on behalf of the applicanto 

Section 10 (1) provides that the Court of com..llittal "shall 

hear the case in the same manner, as nearly ~s may be, as 

if [that court] were sitting as an examining justice and as 

if [th~ arrested fugitive] were brought before [that court] 

chilrged with an indictabl8 offence within [its] jurisdiction". 

II Section 10(2) provides that that court "sh.:ill hc:.ve u as ne<.:.rly 

as may be# the like jurisdicitiOh~nd powers oo• ns it would 

hu.ve if it wen .. sitting u.s an examining jur:;ticG c~nd the [iuyitive] 

were chc:.rged with an indictable offence coITullittcd within its 

jurizdicii."?i.i:>it. ~ir · Where c:.n authority to procf-1eC. hu c.; been issued 

in r~~pect of ~he fugitive" ~ecticn 10(5) rcquireo the court 

of committal to hear any evidence tendered in support oi the 

r equest for his extradition C·r any evidence tendered on his 

behalf a 

Ar: , a.ling . · thos !_)T'1visiom:; a::: wel 1. .is to 51:.:ction 14 ( 4) 

which d,. ___ ares t! · :-';. nothi ~ _r in thf '·. : .::,,:~:_ ,:: :.1 : , -:! 1 :;::- ,·.vent 
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the proof of any matter in accordance with any other law in 

Jamaica" Mr. Ram~ay submitted that evidence as used in the 

Extradition Act means evidentiary material which the court 

must take into account as the court does in preliminary examinations. 

Since a court of committal is required to hear as nearly as 

possible a case in the same manner as if it were conducting 

a preliminary examination into an indictable offence" Mr. Ramsay 

argued that just as an accused is entitled to make a statem~nt 

upon being cautioned in terms of section 36 of thG Justices 

of the Peace Jurisdiction Actu so is a person c.~ccused of an 

extradition offence before a court of committal entitled to make 

an unoworn statement from the dock. 

Therein" with respect; lies the fallacy of the argument. 

Section 36 of the Justices of the Peace Jurisdiction Act deals 

with what is known as a statement of accused. The section is not 

concerned with an unsworn statement from the dockp a right of 

respectable antiquity that an accused person at Q trial is 

entitled to make. And that right has been preserved by the 

Evidence Act, section 9(h) which also recognises the provisions 

of section 36 of the Justices of the Peace Jurisdiction Act. 

After the depositions of the witnesses for the prosecution have 

been read to the accused that l~tter section directs the examining 

magistrate to caution the accused as follows, or in words 

to the like effect: 

"Having heard the evidence do you wish to suy 
anything in answer to the chnrge? You are not 
obliged to say anything unless you desire to 
do so; but whatever you say will be taken down 
in writing and may be given in evidence again3t 
you upon your trial, ••• and [you arc] clcQrly 
to unuerstand that [you have] nothing to fear 
from any threat, which may have been holden out 
to [you] to induce [you] to rnilke any ndmission 
or confession of [your] guilt; but that whatever 
[you] shall [now] say may be given in evitlcnce 
against [you] upon [your] trial, notwithGtanding, 
su.ch promise or threat." 

I agree with Mro Hibbert that Duch ~ statemcntp in practice 

recordeC. 5 n a fo~- ·. headed "Stateme:.:c 0f Accused, 11 may be used 

only fo: trial ~ Jamai · and tl">.:l..: ;ihat ~ .-: recoracd as the 
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stat~ment of accusej ro~y only be used by the prosecution if 

inculpatory or 3t least partly so. If exculpatory it would 

be inconceivable in light cf the language of tho cection 36 

that such a ~tatement could influence the mngistratc not to 

conunit such an accused for trial. 

Now what the applicant sought to do was net to make 

a statement of accused as is envisaged in sl!ction 36, but to 

give an unsworn statement from the dock as is cu~tomary in 

criminal trials in Jamaica. bection 37 of the Justices of 

the Peace Jurisdiction Act shows that a statement UPder section 

36 is put on an entirely different footing from evidence given 

by wit.nesses. S0ction 37 provides that before t.he rnagistrctte 

shall conunit the accused for trial{sl.Jle shallu upon obeying 

the directions of section 36 6 ask the accused if he desires 

to call any witnesses. 

If the accused calls witnesses they arc required to 

give evidence on oath or af f irm&tion and be subject to cross 

examin;:1tion in his prcs~ncu o 

At th~ close of the evidence tandered on bLhnlf of the 

r.::queEting State the applicant <lid cnll witnc:::;::seG who testified. 

Although he did not choose to go into the witnc•f; ;": box and 

b~ zubjcct to croGs exu.minntion he hnd every ri9ht to do so, 

for section 9 of the Evidence Act roakes him J competent witness 

for the detencc at every stage ot the procG0dL1gs" The right, 

pn~s~rved by section 9 (h) 01: the Evidence Actv o:t ,;m accused 

at ·trial to make an unsworn ::;tntement from th,:>. d.ock cnn11ot 

properly be extended by this court to commit:tal pJ:-occ·l:dings, 

bcc 0'1.USe such an extension would, in my opinil'n bu il naked 

ini:mrpation of the ±unction of Parliornent. In ::1.ny cnsc, conferment 

cf ~uch c. right in respect c.f those proceeding~ w0uld, I think, 

b8 indef8~sible on juricprudcntial grounds~ for ~17 t right 

arose El:, a conc~ssion tc o.-::cused pe.i:::>c.ms at. tlw t:cial Gtage 
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in order to give th.:::ir version of the facts without being liable 

to crccs examin.c.-.":i.on in the ~.'P when they were unable to give 

sworn or affirmed evidence at their trialo 

For these reasons I hold that the learned Resident Magistrate 

was correct in ruling thCTt arr unzworn statement from the dock 

(which Mr. Ramsay had applied to have the applicant make) would 

not conEtitute evidence as contemplated by sccticn 10(5) of 

the Extradition Act, 1991. Her refusal to allow the applicant 

tc make a statement did not therefore amount t o a deninl of 

due process. 

Question as to whether there was sufficient 
basis for concluding that the offences to 
which the authority to proceed related 

were extradition offences. 

The learned Resident Magistrnte had to dcterminu not 

only the question of the sufficii;.!ncy of evic1cr1cc in respect 

of the offences to which the authority to proceed related, 

but also whether she was satisfied that the said of fences 

were at all material times extradition offences. She had ample 

bcsis to say (a) that the acts constituting th~ said offGnces 

would cc.nstitute offences against the law of Jm·r,"tica and (b) 

that the said offences were provided fur by the E~tradition 

Treaty between the Government of J2.maica u.nd the G~::vernment of 

thu United States uf Amcricci rl:ltified by Jamaic.::-. on 31st May, 

1991. Nevertheless the applicant says 1 in uffc;ctv that the 

Resid~nt Magistrate had no basis for concluding thnt the said 

cffcnc.;:.;s were extradition offences. His grc,urnl f r.;r saying 

so reads as fcl~.ows: 

11 
••• at the time that pn•c ucdings under 

the Extradition Act were initiwte<l ~gainst 
~rour upplicant the 1991 Treaty b0tw~en the 
TJnited States of America and .:farnaicc. had 
not been published in the G.:::i.z ctb.~ g And thnt 
p~blication is a necessary part of the 
process of incorpc.rn.tion of n Trcctty into 
municipal lcw11 
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Section 4 (1) of the Extradition Act provides that where 

an extradition ~x~aty has been concluded with a foreign State 

the Minister may by order declare that the Act applies to 

that foreign State for the purpose of implementing the terms 

of the treaty. The provisions of the Act apply to the United 

States by the authority of section 4(3) and the Extradition 

(Foreign States) Orderf 1991 which was exhibiteu in the Court 

below. In accordance with section 4(4) of the Act that Order 

was affirmed by the House of Representatives on 15th August 

1991 and by the Senate on 13th September 1991. 

Mr. Ramsay submitted that the treaty was not yet a part 

of Jamaican law when proceedings for the extradition of the 

applicant commenced. He urged that it only beca1ne incorporated 

into Jamaican law on 2nd February 1995, the date of the publication 

t in the Jamaica Gazette of the treaty and resolutions by the 

House of Representatiove and Senate affirming the said Order. 

In other words, the Order, he submitted, became effective 

not when it was affirmed by a resolution of each House, as 

was suggested by Mr. Hibbert, but when the resolutions affirming 

it were published in the Gazette. In support of this submission 

he relied on section 31(1) of the Interpretation Act which 

statesg 

'
1All reg·ulations [which include orders] 

made under any Act ••• and having legis­
lative effect shall be published in the 
Gazette. anci unless it be otherwise 
provided shall take effect &nd come into 
operation as law on the date oi such 
publication." (emphasis supplied) 

That submission cannot be correct, for it flies in the face 

ot section 30(2) which saysg 

"The expression, 'subject to affirmative 
resolutionv when used in relation to any 
regulations shall mean that those 
regulations are not to come into operation 
unless and until affirmed by a resolution 
01: each House of Parliament. vi 

Though Cd~: in n~.d~ive formu the ~ubsectinn meanc that when 

affirmat . . re so:..·_ i.ons al. · passed ·l"'V t.~1P •"1 ···q ~ nf Parliament~ 
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the related =-egulat ;.C·il, (•r o::: .. : e:i:-, thereupon come into force. 

In Priuce ~ntt.ony Edwards v. the Director of Public 

Prosecutions and the Director of Correctional Services s.c.c.A. 

No. 43/94 delivered on 7th November 1994 (unreported) the 

Court of Appeal comprising Wright, Downer an<l. ;Jolfe J J .A., 

laid it down that once the Extradition {Foreign States) order, 

1991 was affirmed by the resolutions of both HouRes the tre~ty 

wao eni:orceable. In that case copies of the re:::clutions affirmed 

by the Hcuse of Representatives and the Senate on 15th August 

1991 and 13th September 1991 respectively, were exhibited. 

Downer J.A. with whose judgment the other memhert. of the court 

agr-:!ed, maintained that as these resolution£: fo:::-m part of 

the reccrd of that Court., there ought to be no i;.;:::;ue in future 

cdses concerning the completion 0£ the legislative process 

ao regard~ the United States of America. 

As far as concerns the case before this CourL, the 

legislative process was completed, be it noted., nctr ao 

Mr. Robincon submitted, on the date of the pu!;lication in 

the Gazette of the Orderu but when the Order was affirmed 

by a resolution of each Houoe of Parliamento I~ is ~bundantly 

clear therefore that at the time that the proceodings under 

the I!~xt.ratli tion Act uere launched against thP. applicant the 

treaty was incorporated into ,Jamaican law and the sdid offences 

extradition offences. 

Was there a failure to observe th2 rule 
of speciality so as to preclude the 
Magistrate mc:.king a committal order? 

The applicant says Lhul that. questic·.:i. JL.ut:>c Le answered 

in the c.ffirmative, for in ·tili£; connection his ~round for 

t11e is cue of the writ re;::.di:; "tlms ~ 

'
1That no evidence was offered as -t:c any 
provision made by the laws of th(~ HPqucst.ing 
r-cate ~~::. to the observance of i..:l!B h.ule ot 
Special t:' a::; reyuired by :.;ectio1i 7 { 3) o:f: 
the Extradition At:"t: 19911 nor ali.:t-.D:-natively 
wes any ~orlifica~e ot the res ponsible 
"~inister tenderert. to cor·-'.·:i.:;:w the e~:istence 
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of an arrangment with the requesting State 
as provided by section 7(4) of the said Act. 0 

1~~r. Ra."tlsay submitted that in the absence of a certificate 

of the Minister under section 7(4), in order tor the applicant 

to be afforded the protection of the rule under section 7(3), 

there had to be evidence before the Resident Magistrate that 

the extradition treaty had been incorporated in American law. 

He further submitted that there was no such evidence. 

Section 7(3) of the Extradition Act ordains that "[a] 

person shall not be ••• committed to ••• custouy ±or the purposes 

of [extraditing him to an approved State] unless provision 

is made by the law of that State, or by an arrangentent made 

with that State, for securing that he will not ••• be tried 

or detained with a view to trial for ••• any offence committed 

before his extradition ••• other than ••• the offcnce(s) in 

respect of which his extradition is requested ••• or any lesser 

offence(s) proved by the facts proved before a court of committal ••• ". 

So it is plain that the requirements of tho subsection would 

be met if it were proved before the court of comn1ittal either 

that (a} provision had been made by the law of the United 

States for securing the aforesaid requirements or (b) that 

an arrangement had been made with the United States tor securing 

same. As to (a) above it is common ground that there was 

e no e:vidence b~foce the court ot comrni ttal. And in i:espect 

to {b) Mr. Ramsay submitted that by the terms of section 7 

of the Act it was the duty cf the Minister tc provide a certificate 

if there was any such arrangement as is mentioned in section 

7(3). Since no certificate was forthcoming the rule of 

speciality had not been satisfiedF so the argum~nt ran. 

Section 7(4) of the Act states= 

"Any such arrangement as ifl mentioned in 
subsection (3) may be arrangement of a more 
general nature; ar.d for the purposes of that 
subsection a certi:::icatc if.->sued l>y •• o the 
dinister confirmi,19 the exi~tencc of an 
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airangemerit with any apprm1ed State and 
stating its terms shall be conclusive 
evidence of the matter contained in the 
certificate. 11 

Section 2(1) of the Act defines an approved State as either 

a d~Gignated Commonwealth State or a treaty State~ as the 

circumstances may require. The United States of America 

wus a treaty State since before extradition proceedings ugainst 

the ap~licant were instituted, because the Extradition (Foreign 

States) Order 1991 applying the provisions of the act to 

that country has been in force since 13th September 1991 

as has already been found. And Artice XIV oi the treaty 

recites the rule of speciality s8t forth in ccction 7(3) 

of the Act. 

The treaty, as counsel for the respondents submitted, 

is an arrangement made between the United States ~nd Jamaica 

as to the conduct of their relations in terms of the provisions 

of the treaty. I agree that the requirements of r.:ection 

7 (3} were satisfied at the ccnunittal proceedings. 'l'he reason 

is that article XIV C·f the treaty manifested 8 as it still 

doe~, an arrangement spoken of in section 7(3) of the Act. 

There was accordingly, no need for the respondcntn to show 

that the rule is part of the law cf the United States. Nor 

was there any duty to furnh;h a certificate frum the Minister 

confirming the existence of ~uch an arrangement for securing 

the rules which ex hypothesi the treaty, al!.'cady incorporated 

in Jamican law, contail!So Counsel for the r:ospondents are, 

I thinkf correct in submitting that a certificntc would only 

be appropriate in relation to dusignated Commonwonlth States, 

for in that regard there would be nothing clo~ tendered before 

a court of committal to show that an arrangement c ~xists. 

Mr. Ramsay further submitted that th~ rule of speciality 

could not be applied in this case or could be o~sily evaded 

on the basis that the c<>mrnittal order could be made to fit 

eith,-·· of the :-·.·o indi.· :trnents n : ·· e~~rec1. .-oo Thn-i·. submission 
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can be dealt with shortly. The committal order relates only 

to the offences ~tated in the authority to proceed. Those 

offences are the subject of Indictment No. 9100054 exhibited 

with the request for extradition. There ought therefore 

to be no likelihood of the misgivings betrayed by Mr. Ramsay 0 s 

submission being realisedu as Indictment NO. 89~00089 referred 

to in Miss Bedwell's affidavit concerns scp~rntc and <lifferent 

charges which are clearly caught by the rule 0f speciulity. 

In the result the learned Resident Hagistr;1tc acted 

within her jurisdiction in committing the applicunt to custody 

to await his extradition to the United Statca of America. 

Would it in the circumstances be unjust 
or oppressive to extradite the applicant 
on the basis of lapse of time or on the 
basis that be accusa.1iL."&t against him is 
not made bona fide in the interest of 
justice? 

I now turn to the finul grounds. These grounds were 

not open to the applicnnt before tho learned Resident Magistrate. 

Th~y are dealt with by section 11(3) (b) and {c) of the Extradition 

Act which empowers the Supreme Court to order the npplicnnt 

to be discharged tram custody -

"If it o.ppenrs to the Court. thz:t~ ••• 

(b) by r,::?uson of the passugc of time 
since he is alleged to hnvc committed 
the offence ••• , or 

(c) because the accusation against him 
is not. made in good faitl. in the 
interect of justice, 

it would, hc:i.ving regard to all the circumstances, 
be unjust or oppressive to e~::tradite him. 11 

Paragraph (c) of the subeection deals wiLh an accusation 

made in bad faith. Sov was the requesting State acting improperly 

in making the accusation and in requesting "lhe extradition 

of the applicant? Mr. Ramcay pointed to thf! fact that accomplices 

who had palpable interests to aerve wer~ useQ tu depose against 



e 

28. 

the applicant. Yet, as Mr. Hibbert reminded, the practice 

of using accomplices to give evidence against accused persons 

has been approved in Jamaica, England and several other common 

law jurisdictions. For instance, in the Prince Edward case 

(supra) the Court of Appeal accepted sub silentio that there 

was nothing improper for accomplices of the fugitive to give 

evidence implicating him even though they were in prison 

when they gave their testimony. All that would be required 

would be for the appropriate warning to be given at trial. 

Mr. Ramsay contended that Michael Mattner was expelled 

from Jamaica by the Jamaican police as to prevent him giving 

evidence before the court of committal. Assuming for present 

purposes, without deciding, that this was so, that could 

not, as Mr. Hibbert observedu have affected the uccusation 1 

for it had been already made. And, in my view, there is 

no evidence before this court, nothing in the affidavits 

and other documents supplied in support of the request, that 

could cause this Court to say that the accusation against 

the applicant was not made in good faith in the interest 

of justice. Nor is there anything in the evidence that shows, 

or from which it can reasonably be inferred, that the accusation 

was not made in good faith. 

As regards paragraph (b) of the subsection, the passage 

of time to be considered is the time that elapced between 

the date of the alleged offences in May 1988 and the date 

of the commencement of the hearing in this Court on 22nd 

January, 1996, because that was the first occasion on which 

this ground for resisting extradition could be raised by 

the applicant. 

On 6th July 1988 the indictment charging the offences 

was returned by the Grand Jury and the following day the 

foreign warrant for the applicant'~ arrest wan issued. However, 

.it was r "<: untl -~ '.t th July i 1991, t:<::-r;~ yf:. •.:· ::; later, that 
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a request was made for the applicant's extradition. It was 

a provisional warrant that was sought then, as also in November 

1991u when the request was renewed, but was not acted upon. 

The formal request was made two years later, viz 17th August 1993. 

On 29th November 1993 the authority to proceed was issued 

by the Minister. Then on 22nd December 1993, less than a 

month later, the warrant of arrest was issued but was executed 

on 4th December the following year. I accept the evidence 

of Lewis Burchell, an Assistant Superintendent of Police, 

that between 4th January and 4th December 1994 he made efforts 

to locate the applicant but was unsuccessful. I also find 

from his evidence that it was consequent on information he 

received from a detective at the Negril Police Station that 

he arrested the applicant at the Spanish Town Police Station 

lock-ups on a warrant under the Extradition Act. Nevertheless, 

in his affidavit in support of his applicationr the applicant 

says that during that period he resided at Point Village 

in Negril, operated the 99 Red Snapper" Restaurant in Negril 

and was living openly and working in Negri! and Montego Bay. 

All that has not been refuted. 

Relying on the case of Kakis v Republic of Cyprus (1978] 

2 All E.R. 643, Mr. Ramsay contended that this Court should 

be satisfied that the provisions of section 11(3) (b) are 

applicable here. He submitted that it would be unjust to 

extradite the applicant because the risk of prejudice in 

the conduct of the trial itself is denoted by the risk of 

his wife, Cortina Mattner-Byles, becoming a witness against 

himu she having given an affidavit against him in hpril 1992 

to the requesting State. The risk, counsel submitted, had 

been occasioned by the failure to have the applicant tried 

with ordinary promptitude before 1992. Mr. Ramsay further 

submitted that it would be oppressive to extradite the applicant 
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because the failure of the requesting State to take action 

with reasonable promptitude would have allowed a build-up 

of a sense of security in the applicant, and the stability 

if his life would now be threatened. 

It is correct that "unjust" is directed primarily to 

the risk of prejudice to the fugitive in the conduct of the 

trial itself, and "oppressive" is directed to hardship to 

the fugitive resulting from changes in his circumstances 

that have occurred during the period to be taken into consideration~ 

see the speech of Lord Diplock at page 638 g to h in Kakis' 

case (supra). Yet, it is not enough to rely on Lord Diplock's 

rendering of "unjust" and °'oppressivea" The applicant must 

show that the proper inference to be drawn from the primary 

facts established before this court is that it would be unjust 

or oppressive to extradite hima 

In Kakis' case the House of Lords held that that was 

the proper inference to be drawn in the circwr.stances of 

that case. There, Kakis was alleged to have participated 

in a murder in Cyprus in 19730 He went into hiding and some 

15 months later he took part in a coup which ousted the governmenta 

He emigrated to England in September 1974 with the permission 

of the new governmento In December 1974 the former government 

was returned to power and an amnesty proclaimedo Kakis under­

stood himself to be included in the amnesty and in early 

1975 he visited Cyprus for about three weeks with the permission 

of the government of Cyprus, wound up his affairs there, 

and then returned to Englando In 1976 extradition proceedings 

were instituted and at the hearing in England in September 

1977 Kakis and two alibi witnesses testified that he was 

at home at the time of the murdero Both alibi witnesses, 

viz Kakis' wife and a man who had taken part in the 1974 

coup, had settled in Englando They gave evidence that they 
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would not return to Cyprus to testify at any trial for fear 

of ill treatment by political opponents. Had a murder trial 

taken place in Cyprus before the male witneos had left, he 

would have been available and compellable ao a witness for 

the defence but at the time of the extradition hearing he 

was no longer a willing er compellable witness. 

The House of Lords held that having regards to all the 

circumstances it would be unjust and oppressive to retu~n 

the applicant to Cyprus for trial. That last circumstances 

(outlined by the last sentence of the previou~ pnragraph) 

would make it unjust, to return him for trial, for it would 

detract significantly from the fairness of the trial if he 

were deprived of the opportunity to call the ovidc::: i1ce of 

t.he only independent witness as to his alibi. •.ro return 

him for trial would also be oppressive because during· the 

relevant period he was justified in believing that the government 

of Cyprus had no intention of prosecuting him for the alleged 

offence and was warranted in f~eling a sense of security 

from prosecution. 

Had the extradition proceedings in thut ruse been pursued 

with promptitude then that alibi witness would have been 

available for a trial in Cyprus. And referring to Kakis, 

Lord Scarman in his speech said: 

"The loss of his compellable witne ss e.nd 
the build up of a sense of security both 
result from the passage of time, the 
effect of which ••• has to be considered 
having regard to all the circu..rn~tances~ 
It is not permiscible, in my jutlgment, 
to consider the passage of time divorced 
from the curse of events which it ullows 
to develop. F'or the purposes of this 
jurisdiction, time is not a abstraction 
but the n~cessary cradle of events, the 
impact of which 011 the applicant has to 
be assessed o 

1
' 

Unlike that case there is no evidence before this 

court that there are any r~levant events in the instant case 
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which would now make it unjust or oppressive to extradite 

him to the United States for trial. There is no evidence 

before this court, nothing in his affidavit or in the deposition 

of his wife or that of Ripton McPherson to show any disability 

or unfairness he would suffer if his trial was now to take 

placeo Nor is there evidence from which this court can say, 

or infer, that he would suffer prejudice in the conduct of 

his. defence if be is. returned to face trial in respect of 

the said offences. 

Whilst I agree that the evidence does not warrant a 

finding that the applicant conceal.ed bis whereabouts. or sought 

to evade arrest in Jamaica, it is to be observed that Lord 

Diplock's speech in Kakis' case makes it clear that responsibility 

for delay not brought .about. the accused is not generally 

relevant. And it is clearly irrelevant in the instant case. 

Indeed, the tenor of Lord Scarman's dictumv referred to above, 

il:J,dicates that lapse of time is not in itself enough to give 

rise to oppression. or injustice- Then again, the instant 

case is devoid of complexityo The prosecution is saying 

that between 1986 and 1988 the applicant and others, conspiring 

together, were responsible for bringing into the United States 

for distribution illegal drugs that were found in a boat 

and boat house in that country. And there is no evidence 

that any defence witness is no longer availableo Then too, 

as Mr. Hibbert put it; on the material before this court 

the applicant will suffer no more than the ordinary hardship 

to be expected by any person who is extradited to stand his 

trial. 

So taking into account all the circumstances it would 

not, in my opinion, be unjust or oppressive to extradite 

the applicant to the United States of America for trial. 
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CONCLUSION 

It is for that foregoing reasons that in agreement with 

my learned brothers I concluded that the applicntion must be 

refused. 

Theobalds J. 

I have read in draft the judgment of my learned colleague 

Justice Clarke. I agree total.l.¥ wi:th his. reusonsJ there is 

nothing that I can usefully add. 

Reid J. 

I agree. 


